E

OF SCOTLAND



















ROYAL PALACES OF
SCOTLAND









e maes |
Ry

DINBURGH CASTLE IN 1780.

E

From a drawing by T. Hearne.

Byrne and S. Middiman.

Engraved by W









WNofe By the Edifor of
the Series

HIS book is a companion volume to the

series dealing with the Royal Palaces and

the Episcopal Palaces of England. That

series was inspired by work done for the
“Victoria History of the Counties of England,” the
plan and scope of which prevented its writers from
using much of the interesting material accumulated
in the course of their investigations. No such mate-
rial has been available in the present instance, but the
author of this sketch of the Royal Palaces of Scot-
land is one of the staff of the “Victoria History,”
and she has employed to good purpose the experience
thus gained. The story of the dwellings of the Kings
of Scotland will, it is believed, not be found inferior in
interest to the volumes with which it is associated.
The opinions expressed in the book are those of the

writer.
ROBERT S. RAIT.

New CoLLEGE, OXFORD,
August 1911,












Rist of Jflusfrafions

EDINBURGH CASTLE IN 1780
KILDRUMMY CASTLE . 3 ;
DOUNE CASTLE . 2 ; : 3
DUMBARTON CASTLE . : . :
CRAIGMILLAR CASTLE . i 3 2
ABBEY AND PALACE OF DUNFERMLINE .
EDINBURGH CASTLE . : i
HOLYROOD PALACE, FROM AN OLD PRINT
LOCHLEVEN CASTLE . : 3 ;
HOLYROOD PALACE 4 4

STIRLING CASTLE IN 1781 . : :
STIRLING CASTLE . ! : ; 5
FALKLAND PALACE IN 1837 . ; f
FALKLAND PALACE ¥ : 4 :
PALACE OF LINLITHGOW IN 1782 . ’
LINLITHGOW PALACE . §

BALMORAL CASTLE, FROM AN ENGRAVING

BALMORAL . . . . . .

Frontispiece

. Facing p. 16
g /i 26
3 5 32
’ AR BIoR 3
2 4 42
4 5 48
4 & 72
s 106
PRSI "
: o) T
4 » 208

i Sk 258

” 270
S 289
! U (o))

7] 312






Jnfroductory EBapter

HE royal palaces of Scotland, if the term be
taken to denote those houses of the kings
which served them as residences, have a
place in the constitutional and political
history of the country.

It is probable that the early Celtic kings quartered
themselves with their attendants on different subjects
in turn. Thus the obligation of the nation to support
a sovereign was maintained. As the character of the
kingly office changed from that of a chieftain to that
of a landlord, there came to be demesne lands of the
crown and in them palaces. Even, however, in the
tenth and eleventh centuries, when for practical pur-
poses the kingdom was bounded by the Forth and the
Tay, the king would seem to have passed from house
to house within his narrow dominions.

Perhaps the practice arose from the necessity of
providing fresh pastures for needy retainers. These
were probably, as they were in Welsh courts, not
courtiers but attendants or servants, who acquired by
their duties no dignity. In Wales they belonged to
the class of lesser freemen.

In the end of the eleventh and in the early twelfth
century, when the influence of England made itself
felt in Scotland, there was a change in the manners
and the customs of the court. Some ceremony and a

degree of luxury were introduced ; the courtiers were
A
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chosen from the highest class, and came to be associated
so closely with nobility that their office acquired power
itself to confer rank. Thus the Scottish court ap-
proximated to the continental rather than to the Welsh
or Irish model. ;

The greater stateliness was facilitated by an im-
provement in architecture, of which there is evidence
in the many churches and religious houses built by
David 1., and which must have been accompanied by
an increased skill in the lesser decorative arts.

As the kingdom expanded to its present limits the
wandering habits of the court increased. David L
incorporated this practice of his ancestors in the policy
which he borrowed from the Norman kings of Eng-
land. Like William I. he built all over his country
strong keeps; and he and his descendants kept their
court at one after the other of these. Scotland until
the union of the crowns had always a weak central
government, because of her poverty and because of
the strong local influence of her great families. As
previously it was expedient that the burden of sup-
porting the royal household should be borne in turn
by different districts. Moreover it was wise to cause
to be felt from time to time in every part of the land
the military and the judicial strength of the monarchy.
In England a like end was attained by a connection
with the central power of local institutions.

The early houses of Scottish kings were probably
all to some extent fortresses. The history of some of
them ended with the War of Independence, because it
was the policy of Robert the Bruce to demolish strong-
holds of which the enemy might take advantage. His
resources were inadequate to maintaining garrisons in
all the castles of David I. as well as an army in
the field. The number of royal castles was further
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diminished by the grants made by the Bruce to attach
to himself his followers or to reward them; and by
the piety of David II., that ““sair sanct to the crown,”
who endowed so many religious foundations.

The first two Stewart kings, Robert II. and Robert
II., are among the least efficient of Scottish rulers.
They lived much in remote parts of the kingdom, led
apparently by a fondness for the hereditary possessions
of their family and by a love of hunting. To this
failure to carry about with them in constant progresses
order and peace, have been ascribed some of the diffi-
culties which James I. and James II. encountered in
seeking to hold in check the turbulent nobles and their
followers.

The repressive policy of these latter kings entailed
many forfeitures, and thus increased the number of
houses which were crown property. In this period
however, the fifteenth century, there came to be a
distinction between a castle and a palace. A time of
comparative peace and order rendered it unnecessary
for kings to live immured within fortresses; the
ancient keeps were inadequate for the entertainment
of their households, their ministers, and their guests;
and the Renascence had come to Scotland and brought
wider needs and the ability to supply them. More-
over the skilful government of James IV. made the
country unprecedentedly wealthy.

Thus castles were converted into palaces, or
castles were abandoned as residences and new palaces
built in their place. To the first class belong Stir-
ling and Linlithgow ; to the second, Holyrood and
Falkland.

The kings still wandered from house to house;
and both the political and the economic reasons sub-
sisted to maintain the practice. The ancient policy
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is evinced in the building of some new fortresses.
In connection with the economy of Scotland, it is
notable that the parliament, a somewhat exotic growth,
granted to the king few and small subsidies, that he
depended largely on the rents of his demesne lands, and
that these were frequently paid in kind. The situation
of the palaces was greatly determined by that of the
lordships of the crown; the king travelled from place
to place, in order to consume the produce of his
possessions, as well as to make his power felt through-
out the land.

The courtiers who accompanied him were persons
of importance. The kingcraft of the Stewarts was
exercised to a great extent through the medium of
favourites, often persons who owed entirely to them
positions of power ; consequently the court, like the
Church, provided a sphere for the ambitious. Tt was
none the less burdensome to the district on which
it was quartered.

It is difficult to discover the extent to which the
royal progresses and the sojourns of the court were
oppressive to the productive classes. There was
much simplicity in the court as compared with those
of England and of France; and probably the small-
ness of the population and the poverty of the country
always prevented such social distinctions as deprive
the labouring classes of power of expression. At the
same time all the institutions of Scotland, this of
travelling monarchs like the others, were fitted to
oppress; and the land was so poor, that the people
called upon to supply the needs of their sovereign
can have had little, if any, marginal wealth.

To ascertain the exact date at which most of
the fortresses were abandoned as residences is im-
possible. In the fifteenth century the sovereigns
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were often lodged in monasteries or in the houses
of burghers, in places in which their ancestors had
inhabited the castles. At the same time, even in
the early sixteenth century, kings are known to have
dwelt at times in strongholds.

Queen Mary was less of a wanderer than any of
her predecessors. She may be said to have lived at
Holyrood, and thence to have visited other parts
of her dominions. From this time Holyrood was
the royal palace of Scotland, that which was associated
with the conception of the country as a separate king-
dom. James VI., from the date of the attainment
of his majority, generally spent his winters in it;
but his love of sport led him to pass much time
in houses more rurally situated. The Stewart kings,
after they had succeeded to the English throne, visited
as royal palaces of Scotland, Holyrood, Stirling, Falk-
land, Linlithgow, and Dunfermline. With the power
of the English government behind them, with the
increased prestige of their new position, it was as un-
necessary for them as it would have been distasteful,
to sojourn in the less important houses which belonged
to the crown.

Of all the historical palaces only Holyrood has
been able to preserve until modern times a vestige
of kingly dignity. The others are ruins, barracks,
or the dwelling-places of subjects. In the nineteenth
century, however, Scotland assumed a new relation to
England. It had been regarded as a land poverty-
stricken, deficient in all the graces of civilisation, and
savagely hideous, which Anne and the Georges were
glad to be able to govern without personal visits.
The poets taught an appreciation of grandeur in
nature, and the advantages of Scotland for sport
were discovered. Thus, late in the nineteenth cen-
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tury, there came to be the royal houses of Balmoral
and Abergeldie; and royal personages were frequently
in Scotland, and, like the Stewart kings, united by
their sojourns the attainment of a political object and
the gratification of a love of sport.

The architecture of Scottish castles and palaces
is treated exhaustively by Messrs. MacGibbon and Ross
in their “Castellated and Domestic Architecture of
Scotland,” and it is necessary only to summarise their
conclusions.

There are no remains to give evidence of the
structure of the twelfth-century castles; but it is
probable that, like the Norman keeps, they were
built of stone and lime. In the thirteenth century
castles were certainly constructed in such manner.
Their plan was that of a “large fortified en-
closure,” which, with some exceptions, was roughly
quadrilateral, and which frequently had in the angles
round or square towers. Rothesay is peculiar in
having an oval plan. The curtain walls were from
seven to nine feet thick, and from twenty to thirty feet
high. The gateway was wide, and protected by a
portcullis; and there was sometimes also a postern
door. It is surmised that the garrison was lodged
within the angle towers, and that there were other
buildings within the enclosure which leant against the
curtain walls. The allusions to the flocks and herds
of the castles, to the practice of using castles as places
of refuge for the neighbouring populations, explain
the great area of the enclosures. The site of these
castles is, as a rule, comparatively low, and appears to
have been determined by the presence of a water
supply.

In the fourteenth century, after the devastations
of the invading armies of England, castles were built
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on a simpler plan, designed as the most defensible.
Usually they were merely square or round towers,
which were defended from a parapet at the roof; but
in some instances a small wing made an L-shaped
building. The ground floor was vaulted, and was
used as a storehouse or a stable; it had sometimes
a loft in which servants slept. Often it communicated
with the first floor only by a hatch. On the first floor
was the chief entrance, reached by a movable staircase
or ladder which led into the hall, the living-room of
the castle. This occupied the whole of a story, and
had a vaulted roof ; but, as a rule, its upper part was
cut off by a wooden floor, and contained several rooms.
Above was another story in which were private apart-
ments ; and there was generally a yet higher chamber,
sometimes vaulted, which carried the roof. In the
thickness of the walls there might be chambers; and
there was at one corner the staircase which led from
the hall to the upper stories and roof.

The roof was generally of stone slabs, and had
a gutter which was drained through projecting
gargoyles, plain or carved. There was a parapet
walk, uninterrupted by chimney-stacks since these
were carried up on the inner side of the thick
walls.

Round the castles was a courtyard enclosed by
a wall and sometimes of considerable extent, and
defended by towers. The expansion of fourteenth-
century keeps to meet the needs of a later age was
possible through the existence of this court, in which
additional buildings could be erected, and which could
gradually be absorbed into the castle itself.

The last period in which historical castles or
palaces were built in Scotland was that of the Jameses,
from 1406 to 1542. Its peculiar architecture is
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distinct ; it is that of houses built or adapted to
surround courtyards.

In Doune and other earlier castles a keep forms
part of the buildings; but a keep larger than its
prototypes, which has on each story more accom-
modation, and has additional towers both to furnish
other rooms and for purposes of defence. It has a
separate entrance and can be separately defended.
The other buildings which are round the courtyard
are the reception or banqueting halls, the chapel,
the state-rooms, and the kitchens and offices. The
entrance is generally a vaulted passage which passes
under part of the building into the quadrangle, and is
defended by a portcullis or gates.

In such later examples of architecture of this type
as Stirling and Linlithgow the defensive features are
less developed, and the state and domestic apartments
are more commodious and numerous. The design
is more luxurious and fanciful; and latterly the
ornament shows the influence of the Renascence.

Keeps of the fourteenth-century pattern were still
built under the Jameses ; but they show in points of
detail a great modification of style. They and the
quadrangular castles were alike, according to ancient
use, defensible from the battlements. The effect of
the introduction of guns is shown by the port=holes
and embrasures found in buildings of the period.

It is proposed in this introduction to give an
account of royal houses, other than Holyrood,
Stirling, Falkland, Linlithgow, and Balmoral, in which
kings of Scotland have dwelt, and to notice some
stages in the development of the court.

The various provinces of which Scotland was
made were united in the ninth and tenth centuries
under the rule of Kenneth MacAlpin and his suc-
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cessors. Kenneth died at his palace of Fort Teviot,
or Dun Fothir, on the Earn; and his kingdom passed
to his brother Donald, whose death occurred, accord-
ing to one chronicler, at his palace of Cuin Belachoir,
according to another at Loch Adhbha, or “the loch
of the palace.” But the chief residence of royalty in
this period came to be Scone, the capital, called
“civitas regalis” under Constantine II., who ruled
from 900 to 943, and who held on the Moot Hill of
Scone an ecclesiastical assembly. Fordun relates that
Malcolm IIL, king from 1005 to 1034, when he gave
away all Scotland, reserved for himself only the Moot
Hill of Scone. The tale, probably founded on tradi-
tions of the introduction of feudalism into Scotland,
preserves the fact that Scone was pre-eminently a royal
place. Its kingly associations survived until modern
times, for it remained the place at which rulers of
Scotland must be crowned.

Its situation was central in the early kingdom,
and had the advantage of proximity to the river Tay.
The house of the kings is said to have stood on the
site of the later palace begun by the Earl of Gowrie,
who raised the conspiracy of 1600, the palace which
has in its turn been replaced by a modern building.
There is no evidence as to the structure of the ancient
house. Mr. E. W. Robertson considers it probable
that Malcolm II. first abandoned the habits of kings
who dwelt successively with different nobles, and
established at Scone a fixed court.

Before the days of Malcolm II., Edinburgh had been
ceded to the Scots; and in the reign of Malcolm Can-
more, who ruled from 1058 to 1093, another palace
became a frequent dwelling-place of kings, that of Dun-
fermline. When Malcolm married the Saxon princess
Margaret in 1070, he held at Dunfermline a tower of
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which the foundations are still to be seen on the mound
surrounded on three sides by the Linn burn, in the
grounds of Pittencrieff and a little to the west of the
later palace. It was at Dunfermline that Margaret
spent most of her life as a queen, and that her children
were born ; and from her confessor Turgot we learn
the manner in which her time was passed. IHer chief
work was the foundation of Dunfermline Abbey, which
‘““she beautified with rich gifts of various kinds,
amongst which, as is well known, were many vessels
of pure and solid gold for the sacred service of the
altar.” Her chamber in the palace was a very school
of embroidery. ‘It was, so to speak, a workshop of
sacred art: in which copes for the cantors, chasubles,
stoles, altar-cloths, together with other priestly vest-
ments and church ornaments of an admirable beauty
were always to be seen, either already made or in
course of preparation. These works were entrusted
to certain women of noble birth and approved gravity
of manners, who were thought worthy of a part in the
queen’s service. No men were admitted among them,
with the exception only of such as she permitted to
enter along with herself when she paid the women an
occasional visit. No giddy pertness was allowed in
them, no light familiarity between them and men;
for the queen united so much strictness with her
sweetness of temper, so great pleasantness even with
her severity, that all who waited upon her, men as well
as women, loved her while they feared her, and in
fearing loved her.” Turgot tells of the strict up-
bringing of the royal children, and that ““during the
solemnities of the Mass, when they went up to
make offerings after their parents, never on any
occasion did the younger venture to precede the
elder; the custom being for the elder to go before
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the younger according to the order ot their
birth.”

The queen was very charitable. * When she went
out of doors, either on foot or on horseback, crowds
of poor people, orphans, and widows flocked to her
as they would have done to a most loving mother,
and none of them left without being comforted.
But when she had distributed all she had brought
with her for the benefit of the needy, the rich who
accompanied her, or her own attendants, used to hand
to her their garments, or anything else they happened
to have by them at the time, that she might give
them to those who were in want; for she was anxious
that none should go away in distress. Nor were her
attendants at all offended, nay, rather each strove who
should first offer her what he had, since he knew for
certain that she would pay it back twofold. Now
and then she helped herself to something or other out
of the king’s private property, it mattered not what it
was, to give to a poor person; and this pious plun-
dering the king always took pleasantly and in good
part.” In the seasons of Lent and Advent the alms-
giving and the religious exercises of the queen re-
doubled,and her life was one of extraordinary sanctity.
She spent much time in church; daily she washed the
feet of six poor persons and fed them; and every
morning she gave food to nine little orphans. “She
did not think it beneath her to take them upon her
knee.” Moreover, every day three hundred persons
were brought into the royal hall. “The king on the
one side and the queen on the other waited on Christ
in the person of His poor, and served them with food
and drink.” In addition, throughout the year she
supported twenty-four poor people. It was her will
that wherever she lived they also should be living in
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the neighbourhood, wherever she went they were to
accompany her.”

Such pious details chiefly constitute the earliest
description of a Scottish court. We can picture the
many poor, Scots and English fugitives from the Con-
queror’s severities, who must constantly have thronged
the entrances to the palace, and crowded around the
queen as she passed to the abbey church, or rode or
walked in the country of Fife. On the road to
Queensferry, rather more than a mile from Dunferm-
line, there is still to be seen a stone in the form of
a seat, on which, according to tradition, Queen
Margaret sat, when she wished in the open fields to
give free access to all suppliants.

It was Margaret who began a new epoch in the
history of the court of Scotland by the introduction
of some of the stateliness to which she had been
accustomed in more southern lands. There was in
her character a regard for form to which outward
pomp made appeal. She “arranged that persons of
a higher position should be appointed for the king’s
service, a large number of whom were to accompany
him in state whenever he either walked or rode abroad.
This body was brought to such discipline that, wher-
ever they came, none of them was suffered to take
anything from any one, nor did they dare in any way
to oppress or injure country people or the poor.
Further, she introduced so much state into the
royal palace that not only was it brightened by the
many colours of the apparel worn in it, but the whole
dwelling blazed with gold and silver; the vessels
employed for serving the food and drink to the king
and to the nobles of the realm were of gold and silver,
or were at least gold-plated.” Moreover, *through
her suggestion new costumes of different fashions were
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adopted, the elegance of which made the wearers
appear like a new race of beings;” and Lord Hailes
has conjectured that she invented tartan. Turgot
apologises for the seeming worldliness of these cares.
“All this the queen did, not because the honour of
the world delighted her, but because duty compelled
her to discharge what the kingly dignity required.
For even as she walked in state, robed in royal splen-
dour, she, like another Esther, in her heart trod all
these trappings under foot, and bade herself remem-
ber that beneath the gems and gold lay only dust and
ashes.”

Under the immediate successors of Malcolm III.,
Donald Bane, Duncan, Edgar, and Alexander I., the
country between the Forth and the Tay was still the
central part of the kingdom; and the kings lived at
Dunfermline, Stirling, and Scone. Alexander 1. dwelt
also at Invergowrie, on the Firth of Tay :—

¢“In Invergowry a sesowne
Wyth an honest curt he bade
For there a maner-plas he hade,
And all the land by and by
Wes his demayne than halyly.”

And after a successful expedition to the north,

“Syne he sped him wyth gret hy
Hame agayne til Invergowry
And in devotyowne movyd, swne
The Abbay he fowndyd than of Scwne.
Fra Saynt Oswaldis of Ingland
Chanownis he browcht to be serwand
God and Saynt Mychael, regulare
In-til Saynt Awstynys ordyr thare.”

Among the lands which, with the consent of his queen
Sibylla, Alexander granted to the abbey were ten
carucates of his estate of Invergowrie, and these must
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have included the site of his house. It is said
traditionally to have stood on a field on the farm of
Menzieshill, a little to the north of Invergowrie
House.

In Scone Abbey the ancient palace was probably
incorporated, but it continued to be a frequent resi-
dence of kings. According to one theory there was
already in the place a settlement of Culdees, whom
the Augustinian monks replaced. The monastic
buildings were destroyed by the iconoclasts of 1559.

David 1., the brother and successor of Alexander,
who reigned from 1124 to 1153, was an innovator.
He was an architect king, who remitted three years’
rent and tribute to all of his subjects willing to
improve their dwellings, as well as the fashion of their
dress and their manner of living; and it may be
concluded that his tastes were exercised in the royal
palaces. Moreover, he was probably the founder of
most of the Anglo-Norman keeps which Edward I
found in the country.

Under David the Lothians and Strathclyde were
made directly subject to the crown ; and the centre of
government shifted to the lands south of the Forth.
From this time until the death of Alexander III in
1286, kings of Scotland dwelt much in the castles
of Roxburgh, Peebles, and Traquair. David kept
his court also at Scone, Berwick, Elbottle, Glasgow,
Cadzow, Strath Irewin, Abernethy, and Banff. He
held most of the earldom of Northumberland during
the greater part of his reign, and he was frequently at
Newcastle.

At Roxburgh and Peebles the castles were fort-
resses: that of Peebles stood at the head of the High
Street, and commanded the peninsula formed by the
Tweed and the Eddleston. Traquair is said to have
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been a hunting seat of the kings, and a forest
belonged to it : between 1133 and 1142 David made
a grant of the wood and timber of his forests of
¢ Selesckircke and Traocquair.” The ancient castle,
or part of it, may have been incorporated in Traquair
House.

The king’s early education had been received in
England; and he continued his mother’s work of
introducing into the Scottish court some of the cere-
mony and the refinement which obtained in that of
the Norman kings. Previously to his reign the only
court officers appear to have been the constable, the
justiciary, and the chancellor. Under David there
were also a chamberlain and a mareschal ; and the
hereditary seneschalship, from which the Stewarts
derived their dignity and name, was created. In
another respect King David observed Margaret’s
tradition. ‘I have seen him,” says his biographer,
the abbot Aelred, ““ with his foot in the stirrup going
to hunt, at the prayer of a poor petitioner leave his
horse, return into the hall, give up his purpose for
the day, and kindly and patiently hear the cause. . . .
He often used to sit at the door of the palace, to hear
the causes of the poor and old, who were warned
upon certain days as he came into each district.”

Malcolm 1V. or the Maiden, the successor of
David, died at Jedburgh in 1165. This castle had
probably, like Roxburgh, been built by David to
defend his border. Berwick, Roxburgh, and Jed-
burgh Castles were, with those of Edinburgh and
Stirling, ceded to Henry IL of England by William
the Lion at the treaty of Falaise.

The existing tower of Clackmannan dates from
the fourteenth century, but the estate was held by
the crown under David I, and it would appear that
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in the reign of William the Lion it comprised a royal
residence. That king in 1195 fell so alarmingly ill
at Clackmannan that he assembled his nobles; and,
since as yet he had no son, announced to them that
he would appoint as his successor Otho of Saxony,
who must marry the Scottish princess, Margaret. In
1203 William lay sick of a tedious illness at
Traquair.

He was much in the north of Scotland: his char-
ters are dated from Forfar, Aberdeen, Nairn, Forres,
Elgin, and Inverness, and in all these places there
were castles in 1292. It is probable that most of them
were founded by David I.: Inverness Castle is known
to have existed in his reign; but at Aberdeen King
William himself built a house. It stood on the site of
the modern Guild Street, between the Green and the
Dee, and William afterwards granted it as a monastery
to the Red Friars. The ¢ fair castle,”” which was
visited by Edward 1., and had some military import-
ance, was erected by Alexander III. Forres Castle,
which is not represented by the modern ruins, stood
on an eminence to the west of the town, and was
surrounded by the Mosset burn. There was a castle
at Elgin in the reign of Malcolm the Maiden ; and
in it William the Lion granted a house, together with
a net on the water of Spey, to Yothre MacGilhys
and his heirs “for the service of one serjeant, and
being in the Scottish army.” Nairn Castle was situated
near the modern High Street.

Under Alexander II. seven towers were added to
the royal castle of Kildrummy in Perthshire, called
the “snow tower ; and there were other castles of
the king at Kinclevin and at Rutherglen. A clause
in the king’s marriage treaty provided for the free
entry of the queen into the latter palace, which is said
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to have stood near the intersection of King Street and
Castle Street.

In the reign of Alexander IIL, king from 1249
to 1286, fuller details exist as to the movements of
the king. In addition to the castles which have
been mentioned, there were in 1292 those of Dum-
fries, Kirkcudbright, Wigtown, Ayr, Tarbet, Dum-
barton, Dundee, Kincardine, Cromarty, and Dingwall ;
and throughout the country there were many other
halls and manors of the king. Alexander III. was
often at Stirling, Linlithgow, and KEdinburgh. At
Jedburgh his second queen, Yoletta, kept a stud ; and
goo perches of hedge and ditch were constructed
in 1288 round the wood and meadows of the castle
at a cost of £5, 16s. 6d. There was a royal castle at
Crail in 1264 ; its rooms were repaired, and wages
were paid to the keeper of the rabbit warrens. At
Invercullen or Cullen, Cowie, and Durris there were
houses of the king. The sheriff of Banff in 1266 had
spent certain sums on the repair of the royal hall at
Cullen, and on furnishing it with brewing utensils.
At Cowie, on a rock which overlooks the sea, there are
still ruins of a fortalice ; and Castle Hill, on the banks
of the Dee at Durris, probably marks the site of the
ancient castle. In 1263 Alexander broke a journey
at Kettins, and the cost is recorded in the next year
of building there a new hall and mending the ward-
robe. This may have occurred at Dores Castle, which
stood on a hill to the south of Kettins village in
Forfarshire. = The king is known to have been at
Aberdeen, Kintore, Forres, and Elgin. The remains
of a fourteenth-century keep, the castle of Hallforest
near Kintore, are still to be seen, and may occupy
the site of his house. At Kincardine a new park
was made; and in the castle of Inverness a domus

B



18 ROYAL PALACES OF SCOTLAND

Scoticana and a wardrobe were constructed. On a
wooded hill near the town there are ruins of Kin-
cardine Palace. Wood appears to have been the
material chiefly employed in all building operations.

In the summer of 1263, Alexander, with his queen
Johanna of England, and probably with their infant
daughter, held his court for twenty-nine weeks and
two days at Forfar Castle. There is record of the
provisioning of the royal household with 48 beeves,
25 swine from the neighbouring forest, 30 sheep
from Barry, and 40 from the grange of Strathylif or
Glenisla, 311 fowls, 60 stone of cheese, 17 chalders
1% bolls of malt, 3 chalders 2 bolls of barley, 38
chalders 8 bolls of fodder, and other special supply of
barley and fodder for the queen. From Cluny lake
700 eels were procured for the king and nine
score for the queen. Such was the food of the in-
habitants of the castle. It was heated by peat fires,
for an allowance of barley was made to the man who
carried peats into the tower.

The chief amusement of the court appears to have
been hunting. Thestables must have been well filled,
for there is mention of twenty-three horses killed in
the royal service. Other records are of payments to
the king’s falconer and groom, of the provision of food
for a bitch and her puppies. Wages were received
also by a gardener and a swineherd. Six and a half
marks were supplied to Augustin the tailor that,
in obedience to the king’s precept, he might go
from Forfar to the fair of Dundee to buy cloth
and fur.

Those houses of kings which were strongholds had
most of them a military history during the War of
Independence and afterwards. Some which continued
crown property were not again royal residences. The
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border castles, Roxburgh, Jedburgh, and Berwick,
proved to be a source of weakness rather than strength
to the country in which they stood, for they generally
were held by the English; and thereare famous stories
of sieges of them by the Scots. In 1314 Sir James
Douglas caused his followers to conceal their armour
beneath black frocks in such manner that they were
mistaken at twilight for cattle, and were suffered to
approach near to Roxburgh Castle. They climbed the
walls and gained possession of the fortress, which after-
wards was demolished by Bruce. But it was rebuilt;
and returned to the tenure of England until in 1342
the exploit of Sir William Ramsay of Dalhousie re-
stored it for a short time to the Scots. Its capture
was vainly endeavoured by James I. in 1435; and
James II. repeated the attempt in 1460, to be killed
by one of his own guns. The siege was, however,
brought to a successful end by his queen, Mary of
Gueldres, and thereafter the castle was again de-
molished. Nevertheless Somerset was able in 1547
to restore the ruins to an extent which allowed them
to be garrisoned.

Jedburgh Castle, of which no trace remains, was
held continuously by the English from the battle of
Neville’s Cross until 1409, when the men of the middle
class of Teviotdale (mediocres Thevedaliae) seized, plun-
dered, and demolished it. It was, however, rebuilt,
and in 1§23 it was captured by Surrey and Dacre, and
“soo suerly brent,” according to information sent to
Henry VIII., “that no garnisons ner none other shal
be lodged there, unto the tyme it bee new buylded.”
That such new building took place does not appear.
The fortunes of Berwick, which alternately belonged to
one and the other of the countries which bordered
on its site, were various : the castle was strengthened
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by Edward I. and repaired by Robert the Bruce, and
finally was ruined by the neglect of Queen Elizabeth.

Peebles Castle was dismantled by Robert I. That
of Forres is said to have been burnt by the Scots in
1297. Inverness Castle fell during the wars ; but was
rebuilt in the fifteenth century, and had a military
importance down to the Jacobite rising of 1713.
Elgin Castle also was demolished in the War of
Independence ; its chapel, however, was still in use
in the sixteenth century. Forfar was overthrown in
1308.

Kildrummy Castle provided a shelter for certain
great ladies; and under the command of Nigel Bruce
and the Earl of Athol it withstood a siege until in 1306
it was betrayed by an English sympathiser. Then the
garrison were hanged, drawn, and quartered; Nigel
and the Earl were executed, the one at Berwick and
the other at London ; and Lady Buchan and Marjorie
Bruce were imprisoned in cages, at Berwick and at
Roxburgh. The Queen and Lady Mar, who were also
in the castle, were treated with less severity. Lady
Mar is said to have been sent to a convent. The castle
in 1338 was held for the young king, David IL., by
Lady Christian Bruce.

In this period several castles were alienated from
the crown. Robert I. gave Dingwall to the Earl of
Ross, and is said to have granted Hallforest to the
Marischal, Sir Robert de Keith; Kildrummy came to
be held by the Earls of Mar, and Cadzow by the
Hamiltons ; Clackmannan was granted by David IIL
to a relative of the family of Bruce; and Traquair
passed to the Morays, who held it until the forfeiture
of William de Moray in 1464. The constabulary of
Nairn Castle became hereditary in the family of Cawdor.
Kinclevin was granted by Robert II. to his illegitimate
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son, John Stewart; but the estate eventually reverted
to the crown.

King Robert I. in the peaceful remnant of his reign
lived chiefly at Tarbert and at Cardross, and probably
at Perth.

The ruins of Tarbert Castle are still to be seen on
the shore of the creek called Loch Tarbert on the west
side of Loch Fyne. They stand some sixty feet above
the level of the sea. Bruce probably added the base-
court of the castle, in which stood its greater part, and
he built also within the structure a dwelling-house.
Under the year 1326 there are records of the making
of a hall, a chapel, a bakery, brewery and kitchen, a
wine-cellar, a moat about the castle, a mill, mill-dam
and kiln, and a goldsmith’s shop. There are refer-
ences to a visit to the castle of Lamberton, Bishop of
St. Andrews, and Lord James Douglas, for whose
chambers litter was provided, and in honour of whom
the hall was decorated with branches of birch. In
1328 Patrick the Fool journeyed from England to
Tarbert.

The manor of Cardross, on the banks of the Clyde,
was acquired by the king in 1326 in exchange for the
lands of Old Montrose. The place of the castle is
marked by Castle Hill. Here in his later years the
great king occupied himself with the improvement of a
dwelling-house, and of parks and gardens. He made
a new chamber surrounded by a stone wall ; glass-work
was inserted in the windows ; in 1328 the chamberlain
accounted for ten shillings spent on verdigris and olive
oil for the painting of the king’s chamber. Great
boards were used for the repair of the park, and wages
were paid to a huntsman, a park-keeper, a girnal-man
and a keeper of the manor, and a gardener. A house
for falcons was repaired and enclosed by a hedge.
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The foundation of Dunfermline Palace, as distinct
from the tower of Malcolm Canmore, is also ascribed
to Robert the Bruce. In the winter of 1303 Edward L
was in the abbey; and on leaving it he caused the build-
ings to be burnt and demolished. King Robert is said
to have restored the monastery, and to have added the
palace on its south-west side. There is in the eastern
part of the existing ruins work which seems to belong
to an earlier period, to the beginning of the thirteenth
century ; but the south front appears indeed to have
been erected by the Bruce and his successors of the
fourteenth century. At this palace in 1323 occurred
the birth of the prince afterwards David II. In 1329
the queen gave a frontal to the altar of the abbey.

On the gth of June 1329 the Bruce died at Card-
ross Castle. Froissart relates the tale of his death,
how when he felt that it behoved him to die he
summoned all his barons and charged them loyally to
support his son David. Then he called to him his
dear friend, the gentle knight, the Lord James of
Douglas, and told him of a vow he once had made to
go on a pilgrimage to the Holy Land. To fulfil it in
his lifetime had not been granted to him; but he now
asked the Douglas to carry thither his heart. All
who were present wept when they heard ; but at last
the Douglas spoke, and promised as a true knight
right willingly to obey his king’s behest. The story
of the death of Douglas in a combat with the Saracens
and of the bringing back to Scotland of Bruce’s heart
is well known.

At Perth there was a castle which was a residence of
kings until it fell into disrepair, when the Blackfriars
monastery took its place. Here was kept a lion, a
pet of King Robert; and in the town was the dwell-
ing-place of Master Mavinus, the royal physician,
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Elizabeth, the queen of Robert the Bruce, died some
six months before him at Cullen.

After the death of Robert, the eight year old king
David II., with the queen he had married a year pre-
viously and his sisters Matilda and Margaret, still
lived at Cardross. New gardens were constructed ; a
ditch was made around the park; the chambers of the
king, the princesses, and the regent, the king’s hall
and chapel, the wardrobe and chapel of the queen,
and the kitchen, larder, brewhouse, bakehouse, and
wine-cellar, were repaired.

In November 1331 the king was crowned at Scone.
On this occasion his sisters and his aunt, Lady Chris-
tian Bruce, appear to have occupied one chamber in
Scone Palace. Curtains of canvas were provided for
the chambers of the queen and of the regent; and a
large stock of napery was bought, as well as towelling
for baths.

David and his queen lived from 1334 until 1341
at the famous Chateau Gaillard in Normandy. On
their return to their country the king, now of full age,
travelled about Scotland, as was the habit of his race.
He was at Kildrummy, Ayr, Scone, Inverkeithing,
Cupar, Banff, Aberdeen, Perth, and Dundee. In 1343
he was with Queen Johanna at Dunfermline Palace.
After his release from captivity in England in 1357
he made frequent visits to the English court, and
these probably account in part for the lavish expendi-
ture of his household, especially after his second mar-
riage to Margaret Logie. That queen had her own
officers, a chamberlain, a clerk of liverance, and a
clerk of the wardrobe. There is mention in this reign
of the pipers of the king.

The first Stewart king, Robert II., was like his
descendants a lover of sport.’ On several occasions in
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his reign sums were paid to the clerks of the house-
hold and of the wardrobe for the king’s expenses while
he hunted at Kyndrochyt. The ruins of this castle,
which acquired from its later owners, the Earls of Mar,
the name of Braemar, stand on a rock near Cluny
burn. They are in a wild and mysterious country, in
the circle of the Cairngorm Mountains. Provisions
for King Robert were sent repeatedly to Bute, whence
it is evident that he was often at Rothesay Castle, that
thirteenth-century keep of the Stewarts of Scotland,
of which the towers still command Rothesay Bay.
There are records, too, of sojourns of Robert II. at
Inverkeithing, Glenalmond, Forfar, Inverness, Perth,
Methven, Cambuskenneth, Arnele, Glenconglas,Ruther-
glen, Cupar, St. Andrews, Glasgow, Scone, Cowie,
Aberdeen, Strathbraan,and Montrose. Methven Castle
was, like Rothesay, a possession of the Stewarts; and
was granted by the king to his son Walter, Earl of
Athol.

In June 1389 King Robert, who with all his mag-
nates was holding his court at Dunfermline, received
at that place an embassy of two French knights, and
of Nicholas Dagworth and another Englishman, all of
them come to treat for peace. They were made wel-
come, and they delivered long and eloquent orations
with such success that the king conceded their de-
mands. Wine, spices, and cloth were bought to make
pleasant their reception ; the king gave four horses to
the Frenchmen, and to one of the Englishmen a horse
worth £10.

The death of Robert II. occurred at another here-
ditary house of the Stewarts, Dundonald Castle in
Ayrshire, on the 13th of May 1390, when at last
peace had come to his country, and when only three
Scottish castles, those of Berwick, Jedburgh, and Rox-
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burgh, were still held by the English. Dundonald
Castle, a conspicuous object on the summit of a steep
and isolated hill, was one of the most important of
fourteenth-century keeps.

Robert III. is heard of at Scone, Perth, Cowie,
North Berwick, Dunfermline, Haddington, Dumbar-
ton, Irvine, Rothesay, and Aberdeen. In Qctober
1390 he was at Logierait in Athol; and in 1397-8
iron, boards, and salt were sent thither for his use.
His castle of Logierait is said to have stood on the hill
near that village where there is now a Celtic cross
erected to the memory of the sixth Duke of Athol.
Dunfermline Palace was the birthplace of James I.

According to Bower, Robert III, after he had
heard of the capture of his son James by the English,
died of a broken heart at Rothesay Castle; and the
room in which his death is believed to have occurred
is still pointed out in the ruins of the keep. Wyntoun,
however, who, unlike Bower, rightly dates the death
of the king on St. Ambrose’s Day in 1406, relates
that '

“ Robert the Thrid, oure Lord the King,
Made at Dundonald his endyng.”

King James 1., after his return from England and
his coronation at Scone in 1424, was for some time at
Dundee. In 1427 he travelled northwards with the
queen to hold a parliament at Inverness; and tents,
paniers, “ rubbouris,” canvas, and nineteen gowns for
the keepers of the queen’s horses were supplied for the
journey. Otherwise there is proof that the royal house-
hold were at Dunfermline, Perth, and Haddington.

The magnificent castle of Doune, which is one of
the best examples of the quadrangular architecture
of the fifteenth century, was built by Murdoch, Duke



26 ROYAL PALACES OF SCOTLAND

of Albany,and was, like Falkland, forfeited to the crown
in 1424. It had superseded an earlier structure, the
seat of the Earls of Menteith, which came into the
possession of Robert, the great Duke of Albany, on
his marriage to Margaret, Countess of Menteith. In
1431 it was the dwelling-place of James, Duke of
Rothesay, the heir to the throne, then six months old,
for whose use forty-eight pounds of almonds were sent
to 1t.

James 1. built a palace at Leith which served as a
lodging for himself and as a storehouse in connection
with his shipbuilding operations. There is evidence
of the work of construction in 1428, and again in
1434 and 1435. In 1435 Robert Gray was master
of the works of the barge and palace of Leith. This
king modified the arrangements of the royal house-
hold. He took from the chamberlain a part of
his functions to divide them among a comptroller, a
steward of the king’s house, a clerk of the spices, and
a treasurer of the household; and money for pro-
vision for the court was received also by the keeper of
the privy seal and secretary. Greater luxury was
introduced into the palaces: we hear of the import
from the Netherlands of a canopy and curtains and
two pairs of sheets for the king’s bed, a gold salt-cellar
set with pearls, and tapestries wrought with the royal
arms, as well as jewellery and articles of dress and
military equipment. Giles, a tapestry-man of Bruges,
received £8 for manufacturing cloth of arras for the
Scottish king, and the royal cellars were replenished
with Rhenish wine. From the Low Countries came
also, to serve King James, first three and then four
players, of whom Martin Vanantyne signed a receipt
for money disbursed for their voyage; and in the

ship called Skippare Henry William Wik brought
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their clothes. Presumably the Dutchmen performed
in Latin. Their advent marks the beginning of that
taste of the Scottish court for dramatic representation
which was afterwards supplied from native sources.

In this reign, and in that of James II., wholesale for-
feitures increased the number of houses which belonged
to the king. Doune Castle was a frequent residence
of James II. It was provisioned for the entertainment
of the royal household in 1451-2 with forty-four
marts, and with swine, calves and kids, at a total cost
of £36, 17s. 1d.; and in 1454 with bread, ale, capons,
and poultry. The prince was there from June to
September 1457. A chaplain, a watchman, a porter,
a park keeper, and a gardener, as well as a keeper of
the castle, were in receipt of fees; and seeds of cab-
bages, scallions, and onions were supplied to the garden.
The king, when he stayed at this castle, hunted in the
forest of Glenfinlas. In 1459 a hunting lodge, which
consisted of a hall and two chambers, was built in the
forest. Doune was a dower-house of the queen, Mary
of Gueldres.

Methven Castle became once more a possession of
the crown on the attainder of the Earl of Athol. In
1444 or 1445 it would appear to have been seized by
a supporter of Crichton, for it sustained a siege of the
king. The king and queen were there in September
1450, probably for the purpose of hunting, for there
is record of the mending of the stables and of provision
for their horses. Like Doune, the castle formed part
of the queen’s dower.

The barony of Strathbraan had become a royal
possession with the rest of the lands of the earldom of
Fife; and Loch Fruchy, in Strathbraan, was another
hunting resort of James II. There, as in Glenfinlas,
a hunting lodge was made in 1459: it included a hall,
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a chamber, a kitchen, and offices. In 1460 it was
furnished with tables, seats, doors, and locks.

The thirteenth-century castle of Lochmaben in
Dumfriesshire had been an hereditary possession of
Robert the Bruce: it was his place of refuge in 1304.
He bestowed it on Randolph, Earl of Moray; sub-
sequently it passed into the tenure of the Douglases,
and on the execution of Douglas in 1440, it accrued
to the crown. The king held his court at Lochmaben
before 1453, and again a few years later.

In 1457-8 James was at Rothesay Castle : there is
mention of a keeper, a constable, a porter, and two
watchmen, who held office in that house, as well as of
the priest of the chapel of St. Bridget, of which the
ruins can still be seen within the courtyard. At much
the same time the king visited another ancient posses-
sion of the Stewarts, Dunoon Castle.

He was sometimes in the north of Scotland. At
Inverness he caused extensive additions and repairs to
the castle. At Elgin he stayed at the manse of Duff-
house within the college of the cathedral, and a kitchen
was added to the house for his use. But a fire
occurred during his visit and all the royal plenishing
was burnt. The king’s lodging in Aberdeen borough
was repaired in 1442—3. It may have been that house
of one of his custumars in which he stayed five years
later. At Ayr he was lodged in the house of Margaret
Mure.

The castle of Ravenscraig stands on a rocky pro-
montory on the coast of Fife between the towns of
Kirkcaldy and Dysart. On three sides it is surrounded
by the sea. The project of building it appears to have
been conceived by James II., who five months before
his death in 1460 acquired the lands of Dysart; and
the work of construction was undertaken by his queen
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in the very beginning of her widowhood. In 1461
fourteen great timbers called joists were carried from
the woods on the banks of the Allan to Stirling ; there
they were cut and planed, and thence they were sent
to Ravenscraig. Other accounts are of the transport
thither, by means of horses and of boats, of stone and
timber. Already in 1461 the building sufficed to
lodge the queen’s steward and certain others of her
servants. No further payments for the work of
construction were made after the death of Mary of
Gueldres in 1463. From its situation it seems that
this castle was designed to protect the entrance to the
Firth of Forth ; but it had considerable living rooms.
The ruins, headed by a round tower, stand out into
the wild sea of the Firth. The castle was granted
by James III. to William St. Clair, fourth Earl of
Orkney, in exchange for his earldom and the castle
of Kirkwall.

The queen-mother in 1461 was hunting at Glen-
finlas. .

In this year or the next the separation of her
household from that of the king took place. It was
settled by act of parliament that ‘‘the king suld ay
remane with the quene, but scho suld nocht intromit
with his profettis, but allenarlie with his person.”

In 1461 the court visited Dumfries. After his
mother’s death James was at Kirkcudbright in 1466-7 ;
in the next year at Peebles, and in the north at Aber-
deen, Banff, Fyvie, Elgin, and Inverness.

The castles of Doune and Methven in this reign
again formed part of the queen’s jointure. Bute,
which included Rothesay Castle, and Dundonald were
among lands inalienably annexed to the crown in
1469, as well as Kilmarnock, a late possession of
the Boyds, which, however, was granted to the queen
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for life. To Kilmarnock belonged the Dean Castle,
which with the other Boyd estates reverted to that
family in 1544.

In the summer which succeeded his marriage the
king, with the queen, again made a northern progress,
and spent about a month at Inverness.

The town of Leith was in 1475 the prey of so
severe a visitation of the plague that it was abandoned
by its inhabitants; and the Bishop of Orkney sent
thither to the king’s house forty-six marts which
were suffered to perish from neglect.

The south wall of Dunfermline Palace, with its
mullioned windows and the intervening buttresses,
must have been built in the latter half of the fifteenth
century. There is, however, no trace of the work in
the Exchequer Rolls, and it cannot be determined
whether it be that of James III. or James IV.

James IV. was, according to a chronicler, “gret-
umlie given to the bigging of palaceis quhilk wer
Halyrudhous and Kintyer, the Roussis of Edinbrugh,
Striueling and Falkland.” By Kintyre must be meant
Bruce’s castle of Tarbert, which was restored by the
king in the course of an endeavour to bring order to
the remote western part of his dominions.

The enterprise was characteristic of his vigour as
a ruler, which led him to visit the most distant parts of
the realm. He built a stronghold on Loch Kilkerran,
and in the spring of 1498 he spent a few days both
there and at Tarbert. In 1499 or 1500 he was at
Rothesay and Tarbert.

The castle of Dingwall had reverted to the crown
with the earldom of Ross in 1476. It was held by
the king’s brother as Duke of Ross; and at the duke’s
death it lapsed to the crown. Soon after his marriage
the king visited Dingwall Castle, In 1507 the sum
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of £20 was expended on the construction there of a
great hall, and other payments were made for repairs.
This castle was important because it commanded the
roads to Ross, Caithness, and Sutherland, the way to
the extreme north.

The earldom of Moray was by his marriage to
Elizabeth Dunbar acquired by Archibald, brother to
the eighth and ninth Earls of Douglas, and with other
Douglas possessions was forfeited to the crown under
James II.  The ancient seat of the earls was Darnaway
Castle, which stands in the midst of a forest on rising
ground near the river Findhorn. There is an old
couplet :

¢ Darnaway green is bonnie to be seen
In the midst of Morayland.”

Of the early building all that remains is the hall,
probably begun by Archibald Douglas, of which the
fine oaken roof was made by James II. Payments for
it are entered in the accounts from 1456 to 1458 ; in
14567 carpenters received wages for planing in the
park of Darnaway three hundred boards.

There is no evidence that either James II. or
James IIL. visited this house. In 1501 James IV.
granted the castle and forest of Darnaway and certain
other lands to Janet Kennedy, lady of Bothwell and
daughter of John, Lord Kennedy, for the cordial love
he bore her, to hold for life, or while she remained
with James Stewart, son to her and the king, and
without a husband or other man. She came to the
castle from Stirling in 1501 ; but appears to have left
it before 1505. Margaret Stewart, who was at Darn-
away from 1501 to 1508, was probably the king’s
daughter by Janet. She was visited at Darnaway by
her father; and after her departure he was again at
the castle, in December 1511.
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Alexander, Earl of Huntly, when in 1509 he
became hereditary keeper of Inverness Castle, incurred
for himself and his heirs an obligation to build a
hall, 1oo feet long and 30 feet wide, as well as
a kitchen and a chapel, on the Castle Hill. On
several occasions King James was at Inverness.

He is heard of also at Elgin, Aberdeen, Dundee,
Dumbarton, Lanark, Scone, Coupar Angus, Kinclevin,
Dumfries, Canonbie and Lochmaben, Jedburgh and
Melrose, and Newhaven. Dunbar has a poem—The
Wouing of the King quhen he was in Dunfermling ™ ;
and Perkin Warbeck was entertained at Methven and
at Perth. Methven and Doune Castles were under
James IV. again made dower-houses.

In this reign there is detailed information as to the
households of the king and queen. Compared with
those maintained by English nobles they were modest.
It has been computed that the members of the house-
hold of James IV. numbered 82, and that they
received in pay about £478, 13s. 4d. in a year;
and that contemporaneously 156 servants were sup-
ported by Henry Percy, fifth Earl of Northum-
berland, at an annual cost of f£1000. The latter,
however, included attendants of the earl’s wife and
brother, and the incumbents of his chapel.

Among the servants of James IV. were a master
of the household, an usher, two keepers of the outer
chamber, a butler, wardroper, carver and seven mar-
shals, a keeper of the wine-cellar, two stewards, a
clerk of accounts, a butcher, a furrier, a tailor, a
keeper of spices, a barber, a gatekeeper, a lawyer,
an armourer, a chief cook, five kitchen boys and five
turnspits, a keeper of the silver plate, and a keeper
of the tin vessels. There were also heralds and
pursuivants and a small guard. The separate house-
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hold of the queen included doorkeepers of the inner
and outer doors, a butler, a steward, a carver, a keeper
of the napery, two cooks and two grooms of the
kitchen, as well as women servants. James Dog, her
keeper of the wardrobe, is apostrophised in one of
Dunbar’s poems :—

¢« The wardraipper of Wenus boure,
To giff a doublet he is als doure,
As it war off ane futt syd frog :
Madame, ze heff a dangerouss Dog.”

Such were some of the train who rode with the
king and queen from place to place throughout the
length and breadth of Scotland. None of them re-
ceived a salary of more than £20 a year; yet some
whose posts would appear least dignified were persons
of gentle birth. There went with them great men
of the land, foreign guests, churchmen, play-actors
and musicians, writers, craftsmen, scientists, hangers-
on of all klnds, falconers and huntsmen, dogs and
horses with their keepers, and much unwieldy baggage.
Some idea of the habits of the company when they were
stationary may be gathered from a rhymed exhortation,
written in the middle of the sixteenth century, and
apparently addressed to ladies of the court :—

“ At X. see that ye dyne;
Ye schaip yow for to soup at VI.,
And in your bed ye pass at IX.
Se that ye lif into this lyne
Giff ye will weile esposit be :
Than sall the masteris of medicyne
Get litill gude.”

James V. travelled much about Scotland, especially
in the Lowlands, but of all the lesser royal houses,
there is proof only of his residence at Dunfermline.

c
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When he was at Leith he stayed in the inn of a
certain David Falconer. It is likely, therefore, that
the palace of James I. had been abandoned, and that
it was not the dwelling-place of Mary of Guise when
she lived at Leith in 1560.

Of the castles and palaces which had served the
Stewart kings as residences, the less important were
alienated from the crown, either actually, or by the
circumstance that they had hereditary keepers, who
came in practice to be their owners after they had
ceased to be visited by sovereigns.

The hereditary constabulary of Rothesay Castle
had been granted by James III. to the representative
of the Stewarts of Bute, the descendants of John
Stewart, natural son of Robert II.; and the office
has continued with this family, that of the marquesses
of Bute. The castle was burnt by the Earl of Argyll
in 1685. The fosse around it was cleared, and the
wooden way of approach restored by the late Lord
Bute.

In 1472 James III. had conferred on Colin, Earl
of Argyll, the hereditary wardenship of Dunoon Castle,
with power to appoint constables, janitors of the
prisons, keepers, and watchmen. He must render
at the castle the yearly rent of one red rose. This
house came to be the residence of the earls and
marquesses of Argyll until the latter half of the
seventeenth century, when it was allowed to become
a ruin.

In a charter to the Earl of Argyll, made in 1523,
occurs a grant of the hereditary *‘ custody of the Castle
of Tarbert when it shall be built.” Probably, there-
fore, the works undertaken by James IV. had never
been completed ; and it would appear that no attempt
was made to continue them, but that the castle was
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allowed to become a ruin. In charters received by
the earls in 1541, and subsequently until 1610, they
received the custody of the castle “when it shall
happen to be built.” Thereafter references to Tarbert
Castle disappear from the records.

The other castle chiefly associated with the Bruce,
that of Cardross, is lost to history at an earlier
date. In 1477 a life-grant of its keepership was made
by James III., but there is no evidence that it was
ever visited by fifteenth-century kings.  Probably it
was suffered in this period to fall into decay.

The custody of Doune Castle was given by
James V. in 1528, with the consent of the queen
mother whose house it was, to be held in tail by
“James Stewart, brother german of Andrew Lord
Avondale,” the great-grandson of its builder, Duke
Murdoch. The grandson of this James became Lord
Doune in 1581, and obtained at the same time full
possession of the castle. He was the ancestor of the
present owner, the Earl of Moray, and it is with his
family that Doune Castle is chiefly associated. In the
ballad of the death of the ‘‘bonnie earl” there is the
stanza—

“ Oh lang, lang will his lady
Look ower the Castle Doun
Ere she see the Earl o’ Moray
Come riding through the toun.”

It was garrisoned in the Jacobite interest in 1746, and
was the prison of certain Hanoverian soldiers, among
them Home, the author of “Douglas.” The castle
has long been abandoned as a residence, but the ruins
are well preserved.

It was in the same ownership as Darnaway Castle,
for that house became again an appanage of the
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earldom of Moray. As such it had probably been
vested in David, the son of James II., on whom
the title was conferred, and who died in childhood.
In 1501 James IV. once more separated this dignity
from the crown in favour of James Stewart, his son
by Janet Kennedy who that year had taken up her
abode at Darnaway. She was probably succeeded by
her son in her tenure of the castle, and he died in
it as its holder in 1544. The house passed with the
title to later earls, and is owned by the present Lord
Moray. The modern part of the building was erected
in 1810.

The lands of Dundonald, with the woods, the mill,
and the fortalice, were demised at fee-farm in 1526,
for an annual rent of /30, to William son of Hugh
Wallace of Cragy. This grant was afterwards can-
celled in favour of another to Robert Boyd, late of
Kilmarnock, who held for a yearly rent of £22; but
he in 1545 had resigned in favour of John Wallace, to
whom in that year a grant in tail male of the property,
burdened with the rent of £22, was made. In 1597
the rent due was £32; and such was its amount when
in 1638 his right in the castle and surrounding land
was acquired from James Wallace by Sir William
Cochrane of Cowdon. Sir William was created Lord
Cochrane of Dundonald in 1647, and Earl of Dun-
donald after the Restoration. The bearer of these
titles retains the ruined castle, the hill on which it
stands, and five roods of adjoining land.

In 1528 the queen mother, Margaret Tudor,
obtained from James V. a grant of the barony of
Methven in favour of her third husband, Henry
Stewart ; and he acquired with the title the lordship
and castle of Methven. Queen Margaret died at the
castle in 1540. Henry, third Lord Methven and
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grandson to the first lord, left no heirs; and his
estates were conferred in 15§84 on Ludovic, Duke
of Lennox. In 1664 Charles, the last duke, sold
the castle to Patrick Smythe of Braco, the ancestor
of the present owner. The existing house dates
from the seventeenth century.

In 1584 Andrew Keith, an illegitimate son of
Robert Keith, abbot of Deer, and a grandson of
William, Lord Keith, was created Baron Dingwall;
and at the same time he obtained a grant of the castle
of Dingwall with its houses and prisons, appar-
ently in full possession. In 1587, after the general
revocation of grants made during the minority of
James VI., not a complete ownership but the here-
ditary custody and constabulary of the castle were
conferred on Lord Dingwall; and they were ratified
to him and his assigns in 1591. Two years later
he was suffered to grant the right of succession to
Sir William Keith of Delny and his heirs male; but
both Andrew and William appear to have died without
heirs male before 1606. The barony, together with
the constabulary and keepership of the castle, were sold
by the crown to James, Lord Balmerinoch, in 1608 ;
and transferred by him to Sir Richard Preston of
Halltree. The latter was succeeded in 1628 by his
daughter Elizabeth, Baroness Dingwall, who married
James Butler, Lord Thurles, the eventual holder of
the titles of Earl of Ossory and Ormond and Duke
of Ormond. Elizabeth died in 1684 and left as heir
a grandson, James, Lord Butler of Moore Park, who
became Duke of Ormond on the death of his grand-
father in 1688. He was attainted after the insurrec-
tion of 1715, and his honours and offices were forfeited
to the crown.

Subsequently Dingwall Castle was acquired by
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William Munro of Ardullie. His technical position
was presumably that of constable and keeper. The
castle was by the middle of the eighteenth century
a complete ruin, of which the stones were used by
the townspeople: it is said that they served to build
the municipal buildings. Through a daughter of
William Munro the rights which he had held in the
castle passed, towards the end of the century, to her
son, the Rev. Colin Mackenzie, minister of Fodderty.
He assigned the ruins and lands, valued at /300, in
trust, to endow a project, which has never been
realised, for the employment of the working people
of Dingwall.

Early in the nineteenth century Captain Donald
Maclennan, previously commander of an armed mer-
chantman in the Napoleonic wars, acquired part of
the site and built the existing castellated mansion.

Lochmaben Castle, while in the sixteenth century
it ceased to be a dwelling-place of kings, was still
a royal garrison. It was dismantled by Lord Scrope in
1543. In 1588 it was seized by Lord Maxwell, and
held against a siege conducted by James V1. in person ;
but after a bombardment which lasted two days, and
in which artillery borrowed from the English was
utilised, the garrison capitulated. In the seventeenth
century, when border fortresses had lost their use, the
castle was suffered to become a ruin. The hereditary
keeper is Mr. Hope Johnstone.

Queen Mary, when she was not in one of the great
palaces of her kingdom, lived in the houses of subjects.
A castle greatly associated with her is that of Craig-
millar, two miles distant from Edinburgh, to which
she went often to find purer air and greater quiet and
freedom than were to be had at Holyrood. This
castle, however, was never a crown possession ; it was
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held from the fourteenth century until the seventeenth
by that family of Preston who at one time were con-
stables of Dingwall. In 1661 it was acquired by Sir John
Gilmour, whose descendant is the present owner.

Craxgmlllar has kmgly associations earlier than
Mary’s reign. When in 1479 James III. caused the
arrest of his brothers, the elder, Albany, was warded
in Edinburgh Castle ; ‘and Mar, the younger, at Craig-
millar. There Mar was attacked by sickness, and he was
removed to the Canongate in order that he might have
the care of the king’s physician. He died ; and there
were rumours, to which it is unnecessary to attach
credit, that he had been poisoned at Craigmillar Castle.
In 1517, when Edinburgh was visited by the plague,
the little king, James V., was removed from danger
of infection to Craigmillar; and he was there “again
on later occasions. The English invaders sacked and
burnt the castle in 1§44.

The memory of Mary is, however, that which has
stayed most persistently in this house. The hamlet
below the castle walls is said to haveacquired its name,
Little France, from her French retinue who were
quartered in it. A plane tree at Craigmillar, the
greatest in the Lothians, is called “Queen Mary’s
tree” because she is believed to have planted it.
Her bedcloset is still shown in the ruins of the
castle.

At a critical moment in her history Mary came to
Craigmillar. Probably on the 24th of November
1566, after a progress through the southern parts of
her dominions, she arrived at the castle; and she
remained there through the early part of December.
It was the end of the year in which Riccio had been
murdered. “The Queen,” wrote the French am-
bassador to the Archbishop of Glasgow, “. . . is in
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the hands of the physicians, and I do assure you is
not at all well, and do believe the principal part of
her disease to consist in grief and sorrow. Nor does
it seem possible to make her forget the same. Still
she repeats these words, ‘1 could wish to be dead.””

Among the many indictments made against Mary
is one that on this occasion she was party to a plot
laid at the castle for the murder of her husband, that
she approved a bond for that purpose subscribed by
Huntly, Argyll, Lethington, and Sir James Balfour.
The statement rests only on confessions made sub-
seqtfently to Darnley’s death. Another tale is that
Murray, Lethington, Argyll, Huntly, and Bothwell
suggested to Mary at Craigmillar that she should
consent to a divorce which should not prejudice her
son’s legitimacy. Mary is reported not to have refused
definitely, to have said, ‘I will that ye do nothing
whereby any spot may be laid to my honour and
conscience, and therefore I pray you rather let the
matter be as it is, abiding till God of His goodness
put remedy thereto lest ye, believing to do me
service, may p0531bly turn to my hurt and dis-
pleasurc ” to which Lethington replied, “Let us
guide the matter amongst us, and your Grace shall
see nothing but good, and approved by parliament.”

Yet another allegation which connects this house
évith the tragedy of Darnley is that it was intended
at first that his death should take place there instead
of at Kirk o’ Field.

The ruins of the castle stand on a hill; and in
contrast to the encroaching city they have a grave
and solitary effect. There still are near them a few
ancient trees. The castle has consisted of a fourteenth-
century keep, and of additional buildings against the
wall of enceinte, of which the most important were



INTRODUCTORY CHAPTER 41

probably erected after the disaster of 1544. Thusin
Mary’s time the house must have been well adapted to
the needs of the period. It was, moreover, planned
on a great scale and contained many rooms.

Except the palaces of which separate accounts are
given, Dunfermline is that which retained longest its
ancient character. It was a frequent residence of
James VI. In May 1590, the year of his marriage,
£400 was paid “ by his Majesty’s precept for reparation
of the house at Dunfermline befoir the Queenis
Majesties passing thertto”; and on the 17th of July
‘““the Queene went over to Dunfermline, convoyed
with a number of noble men and weomen.” Privy
councils were held at this palace in August and
September 1596 ; and on the 19th of August in that
year it was the birthplace of the Princess Elizabeth,
afterwards Queen of Bohemia and ancestress of the
Hanoverian kings. In 1600, on the 19th of Novem-
ber, the king’s second son, Charles, who was to be
Charles I., was born at Dunfermline; and in 1602,
“upon Moonday the 18th of Januar the Queene was
delivered of her thrid sonne in Dunfermline.” He
was named Robert, but died within a year. In March,
when Edinburgh was suffering from a visitation of the
plague, the council, *cairfull that all ordinar and
lauchfull meanis be usit quhilkis, at Godis plesour,
may preserve the toun of Dunfermling, being the ordi-
narie place of the residence of the Quene, his Hienes
derrest spous, and of their Majesties bairnis, fra the
said infection,” took means to isolate the place.
Under pain of death the boatmen at Queensferry
were forbidden to carry travellers from the south to
the north coast of the Firth, except the king’s coun-
cillors and such servants of the royal household as
could prove that they were “voyd and cleare of all
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suspicioun of the said plague.” The provost and
bailies of the borough were ordered, while the epi-
demic continued, to suffer no families to resettle
within the town, nor to receive into it any persons
who came from places suspected of infection. From
1599 to 1603 councils were again frequently held at
Dunfermline. In the latter year Robert Carey went
to the palace to see Prince Charles and ¢ found him a
very weak child.”

The ¢ ordinarie place of the residence” of Anne
of Denmark was not the older palace but a building
known as ¢ the Queen’s House,” which communicated
with it on the north-east by a gallery, and which
would appear to have been erected for her use. It
stood between the palace and the abbey church ; and
in the engraving in Sibbald’s Theatrum Scotiae its gables
can be seen behind the palace roof.

At Dunfermline, as at those places where were
more important houses of the crown, orders were
issued on several occasions between 1603 and 1617 for
the preservation of game in the vicinity of the palace,
in view of expected visits of the king. That repairs
were undertaken in preparation for the long deferred
royal progress through Scotland, which at last took
place in 1617, is proved by an order to certain two
masons of Culross either to go to Holyrood, there
to render service, or within twenty-four hours “to
address themselves with their worklooms to his
Majesty’s work at Dunfermline.” There is a tradition
that James VI. was at the palace in 1617, but it is
unsupported by the records.

Subsequently at intervals, when James or Charles L.
had announced intended visits, proclamations for the
preservation of game in the neighbourhood of Dun-
fermline were made as before from the market-cross
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of the borough. In 1624 Sir Henry Wardlaw and
the master of works received warrant *to visite the
defectis in the place of Dunfermlyne, and to cause
mend the same” ; and this house was among those on
which in 1629 a commission was ordered to report.

Charles 1., before he came to Scotland in 1633,
gave warning that Dunfermline was one of the towns
which he would honour with his presence; and as
in Edinburgh and other places, proclamations from
the market-cross ordered the reservation of lodgings
for his train.  As elsewhere, the borough magistrates
were instructed to supply, during his visit, assistants
to his pastrycooks and bakers; and the inhabitants
of neighbouring parishes were directed to convey his
baggage. His visit was to have been made on the
road from Stirling to Falkland; and Lord Rothes,
sheriff of Fife, and Lord Lindsay, bailie of the
regality, collected the gentry of Fife and their friends,
to the number of two thousand horsemen, and rode
to receive him. It is related, however, that the king
avoided the company by takmg a byroad, and never
fulfilled his promise of going to Dunfermline.

After Charles II. had made his strange alliance
with the Covenanters, on the 2nd of August 1650,
he withdrew from the Scottish army then engaged in
a task not congenial to him, that of ““purging” their
ranks, and went to Dunfermline Palace. Here he
was desired to sign a declaration that he was “deeply
humbled and afflicted in spirit before God, because of
his father’s opposition to the work of God, and to the
Solemn League and Covenant, and for the idolatry
of his mother.” He declined such baseness; and
the ministers turned against him all their force of
invective. On the gth, Lothian, Waristoun, James
Guthrie, and others, sent by the committee of the
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army and kirk, arrived to persuade him. He was
out hunting; and when he returned he ¢ denied
absolutely to declare anything that might rub upon
his father.” But four days later Argyll, Lothian,
Lorne, and others prevailed upon him to subscribe the
document, “ only he entreated them to be as sparing
of his father’s name and memory as necessarily could
be.” In April and in June of the following year
Charles was again at Dunfermline.

Cromwell was in the town when in the summer of
1651 he overran Fife, after his victory at Inverkeith-
ing; but there is nothing to show whether he visited
the palace.

It does not appear that the inspections of the build-
ing made in 1624 and 1629 had resulted in the repair
of defects; and much deterioration had followed on
neglect. In the plates published in the end of the
seventeenth century, in Sir Robert Sibbald’s T%ear-
rum Scotiae, the palace has still a habitable appear-
ance ; but in 1708, the north gable wall, part of the
front wall, and most of the roof fell to the ground.
Therefore when in 1715 a band of Highlanders in
arms for James Edward entered the town, they took
shelter not in the ruined palace but in the adjacent
Queen’s House.

Dunfermline was visited by Daniel Defoe, who
found there ““the full perfection of decay—its decayed
monastery, palace, and town, the natural consequence
of the decay of the palace.” In the middle of the
eighteenth century the Queen’s House was used as a
place in which to hold cock-fights; and in 1797 it
had become so ruinous that it was demolished. There
has been no attempt to restore the palace. Mr.
Hunt of Pittencrieff in 1812 repaired the ruins, and
cleared away an accumulation of rubbish. He be-
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lieved that the considerable expense he thus incurred
gave him a right of ownership, and protracted litiga-
tion ensued. In 1871 his claim was defeated in the
House of Lords; and the crown formally took pos-
session of the ruined palace. It commands the beau-
tiful and romantic glen of Pittencrieff, in which the
Tower burn runs between wooded banks.

In modern times, the only house in Scotland, other
than Balmoral, which can be said to have been raised
to the dignity of a royal palace is Abergeldie Castle
on Deeside. It stands on the site of an ancient keep
of the Gordons; it is still owned by the representa-
tive of that family, Mr. Reginald Gordon; but in
1848 a lease of it was acquired by the Prince Con-
sort, and has been followed by subsequent leases;
and the house has become the Highland residence of
the Prince of Wales. Between 1850 and 1861 the
Duchess of Kent spent in it several autumns; and
in 1879, after the death of the Prince Imperial, the
Empress Eugénie passed the month of October at
Abergeldie.

The most interesting and ancient part of the castle
is the high and rectangular tower, with a crow-stepped
gable roof, which has a somewhat elaborate angle
turret. It forms the nucleus of the whole structure,
and isa “‘ good and picturesque example of a sixteenth-
century manor-house in Aberdeenshire.” Considerable
alterations and additions of a later date have been
made. The castle stands on the south bank of the
Dee, and from the north side it was formerly reached
by a “rope and cradle” bridge, a cradle or basket
which carried a passenger and which ran along a rope
thrown across the river. This contrivance has been
replaced by an iron suspension bridge.

Behind Abergeldie rises Craig-na-Ban; and to the
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north of it beyond the river is Geallaig. Its lands
are beautifully planted, especially with birches. These
are the trees the glory of which Burns is accused of
having transferred to Aberfeldy, for at that place it is
certain that there were in 1803 no more birches than
there are at present.

“The braes ascend like lofty wa'’s,

The foaming stream deep roaring fa’s,
O’erhung wi’ fragrant spreading shaws,
The birks of Aberfeldy.

The hoary cliffs are crowned wi’ flowers,
White o’er the linn the burnie pours,
And, rising, meets wi’ misty showers

The birks of Aberfeldy.”



Evinbural Costfe and
BHofprood (Paface

T is impossible to assign to any date the founda-
tion of Edinburgh Castle. Legends concerning
it meet its history; and there is a period at
which the two are so entangled that they cannot

be distinguished. The castle is prior to the city: it
must have stood as now on its grey beetling rock when
the Lothians around it were a wild waste country. It
was known, when Edinburgh was not, as the Maidens’
Castle; and the name has caused a tradition that it
was the place of safety to which Scottish princesses
were sent when their fathers were engaged in war.
This story must be abandoned. Maidens’ Castle is
probably a corruption of an earlier Celtic name, per-
haps Maidun or Maghdun, “the fort of the plain,”
and the false etymology may have arisen with the
chroniclers who Latinised it as Castrum Puellarum.

The earliest references to the castle discover it in
the possession of the English. Boece relates that after
Kenneth MacAlpin had conquered the Picts . their
queen fled to the English, and that she went first

“To ane castell biggit with stane and lime,
The Madyn Castell callit wes that time.”

It is unlikely, however, that a Scottish castle of this

period was thus constructed. A well-authenticated
47
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fact is that King Indulf, who reigned from 954 to 962,
occupied Dunedin or Edinburgh; and henceforth the
castle was generally held by the Scots.

It acquired importance as the centre of government
shifted to the lands south of the Forth, and it became
not a border but a metropolitan fortress. Malcolm
Canmore probably inhabited it frequently; and the
chapel of St. Margaret was, according to tradition
supported by structural evidence, founded by his
queen Margaret. At the time of the death of
Malcolm and of Edward his eldest son, in 1093,
Margaret lay at the castle, sick unto death. Accord-
ing to the legend, she had supernatural knowledge of
the disaster which had overtaken her husband before
she had news of it; at all events her son Edgar, on
the fourth day after his father had been slain, brought
her the tidings. Almost immediately she received
the extreme unction, and on the same day she died.
The castle was besieged by Donald Bain before her
death was generally known ; but Ethelred and others of
her sons, under cover of a mist, perhaps the familiar
white haar of Edinburgh, carried her body secretly
through a western postern and down the rock, and
thence to Dumfermline.

Under Margaret’s son, the pious Edgar, Edinburgh
Castle became more important as a residence of kings.
It was the place of Edgar’s death in 1107. David L,
between 1143 and 1147, granted to the monks of
Holyrood the church of the castle, presumably St.
Margaret’s chapel ; as well as the land that lay under
the castle between a spring near the corner of his
garden beside the road to St. Cuthbert’s church, and
a craig under the castle towards the east; and more-
over, hides of rams, ewes, and lambs in‘his flocie of the
castle which should die. This grant was confirmed by
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William the Lion. Between 1139 and 1150 King
David held two assemblies of his barons at the
Maidens’ Castle, and his son Henry was present at
least at the earlier of them. In 1174 William the Lion,
when a prisoner at Falaise in Normandy, delivered
this and other fortresses to the English king, as a
pledge for the performance of the treaty on which
his release was conditional. The English keeper was
Alan Fitz Rubald or Alan of Richmond, who re-
ceived from his government, in 1175, £26, 13s. 4d.
for purposes of fortification; and who was appar-
ently remunerated at the rate of one hundred marks a
year. In 1177 Vivian the cardinal, on his return from
Ireland, convoked a council of Scottish prelates to the
Maidens’ Castle; and in 1180 Alexander, the papal
nuncio, summoned thither bishops, abbots, and other
religious men, and caused the consecration of John to
the see of St. Andrews by Matthew, Bishop of Aber-
deen. The castle returned to the possession of King
William between 1186 and 1189. Alexander II. was
there in 1231 and in 1241. It was in 1235 the
prison of Thomas the Bastard of Galloway, who when
destitute of counsel and help had been obliged to seek
the king’s peace.

Alexander IIL., a ten-year-old king, brought his
queen Margaret, the daughter of Henry III, from
York to Edinburgh Castle in 1251. In 1254 Henry
requested him to call to the castle a council of prelates
and magnates in order to give audience to certain
envoys from Gascony.

The little queen Margaret did not like her
northern home, and the circumstance became a pretext
for English interference in the politics of Scotland.
In 1255 the queen of England sent to visit her
daughter and son-in-law a physician named Reginald

D



52 ROYAL PALACES OF SCOTLAND

whose name of Lewyn suggests that he was Welsh,
and who consumed the money provided for his
journey at a tavern. Then, because he wished to
recoup himself by a betrayal, he caused the Scots
to draw him over the castle wall by a rope. The
constable, however, refused to listen to his informa-
tion; and, mounted on the wall, shouted to those
below to make known to their king the news of
the traitor’s arrival. Eventually Lewyn was lowered
on his rope to the besiegers, to be judged, drawn, and
hanged. King Edward is said, when he heard of the
constable’s action, to have withdrawn the fire of his
artillery from the besieged ; and the chronicler thus
accounts for the length of time taken to reduce the
castle. It fell after a fortnight’s siege, when Edward
had already moved northwards. The jewels and
relics found in it were sent to England in six coffers,
and deposited in the wardrobe at Westminster. They
included a golden sceptre which had belonged to John
Balliol, and a golden crown, with an apple of silver
gilt and a rose of gold, once of the Scottish kings.
Subsequently the castle was occupied by an English
garrison ; it was the only fortress which the Scots did
not recover in 1298. In March 1314 Randolph, Earl
of Moray, contrived with a small company to scale
the rock on its northern side, and then to climb over
the wall by means of ladders, while the defenders were
engaged by a strong attack on the south gate. The
castle was thereafter levelled by King Robert, in
accordance with his policy.

Robert seems to have undertaken the repair of
St. Margaret’s chapel; for in 1329 /20 had been
spent on its fabric. In 1328 and afterwards, pro-
bably till 1334, the sheriff of Edinburgh was re-
sponsible for the wardenship of the castle. In the
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latter year it was surrendered by Edward Balliol, with
all Scotland south of the Forth, to Edward III. A
body of foreign auxiliaries under the Duke of Namur
were, in 1335, intercepted on their way to join the
English army by the Earls of March and Mar and
William Douglas, knight of Liddesdale, on Borough-
muir, and driven through the narrow lanes of Edin-
burgh to the ruins of the dismantled fortress, where they
surrendered. Thereafter it is evident that the castle
was rebuilt by the English king. In the late autumn
of 1337, when Edward had returned to England, the
Scots attempted its recovery; but the siege was raised
by an army of Westmoreland and Cumberland under
the Bishop of Carlisle and Ralph de Dacre, lord of
Gillesland, and by the forces of Balliol.

Edinburgh Castle was captured at last by a
strategy of the knight of Liddesdale. He associated
himself with Walter Curry, the owner of a ship at
Dundee, and with William Bullok, William Fraser,
“and Joachim of Kynbuk. Walter’s ship was manned
with two hundred men and brought to Inchkeith,
and Walter went to the castle with a gift of wine
and biscuits for the captain. He represented that
he was a merchant of Elie who dealt in corn, wine,
and strong ale, and he obtained leave to return on the
morrow in order to sell his wares. On the next
morning Douglas and his company placed themselves
in ambush near the gate, and Walter with twelve
others went up to the castle. The men wore armour
beneath rude frocks; and they, as well as two horses
which they brought with them, were laden with creels
and vessels that held the supposed merchandise. The
porter followed his instructions and opened the great
gate to the traders, whereupon one of them rushed
at him and overpowered him; he and his assistants
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were slain, and the portcullis and the turnpike were
stopped by the creels and jugs and by staffs from
being closed. Then Walter blew a horn and the
defenders rushed to the gate, to find *“ stout porters,”
who engaged them in fight. The noise brought
Douglas and his men from their hiding-place; and
in a bitter conflict the English were killed, wounded,
trampled under foot, strangled, flung over the castle
walls, and taken prisoners. Some escaped to carry
the news into the town. Douglas established his
brother, William the Elder of Douglas, as warden.
For their part in the enterprise £100 was, in 1342,
awarded to Walter Curry and William Fairlie.

After this date the castle was in the keeping of
great men. Sir David Lindsay, *that was true, of
steadfast fay . . . na ryot, no na strife made he,”
was warden in 1348, and entertained his nephew,
William of Douglas, nephew also to the Good Lord
James and son to Sir Archibald, who came to “ease
him with solace and play.” The wardenship was
distinct from the office of constable.

David IL in the latter part of his reign repaired
the castle, and it became one of the chief strongholds
of the country, and was again, as it does not seem to
have been since the beginning of the wars, a principal
residence of kings. The spring within it had been
lost to knowledge during the demolition. In 1361
and 1362 payment was made for the construction of a
well at the existing spring beside the base of the rock
on its north side. Payments for the making of the
tower of the well give the origin of the fabric, of
which the ruins are still known as Wellhouse Tower,
and which must have been connected with the well by
a passage. In 1364 the constable received 58s. for
erecting a paling for a duel, and this probably indicates
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that the lists at the foot of the castle rock were already
in existence. Payment for a sink and a great vat in
the castle was made in 1368, and from that year until
1375 there are frequent entries in the Exchequer
Rolls with regard to the construction of a “new
tower ”’; that lofty and massive building near the
Half Moon battery, which was known as Davy’s
Tower, and destroyed in the siege of 1573. King
David in 1368 sent the chamberlain and certain others
to see what the castle lacked in munition and pro-
visions, and considerable sums were expended on
fortifying and victualling it.

Before 1366 a chapel of St. Mary had been built
in the castle. Its priest received L10 out of the
yearly farm of Edinburgh until 1390, when the new
chapel appears to have superseded that of St. Margaret.
At that date Robert II. granted for the weal of the
souls of himself, Euphemia his queen, the kings
Robert and David Bruce, and all kings his ancestors
and successors, £8 yearly out of the great custom
of Edinburgh to the priest who celebrated perpetually
in St. Margaret’s chapel. This endowment was con-
firmed in the same year by Robert III., and due pay-
ment accordingly was made to the priest who had
hitherto ministered in the chapel of St. Margaret, and
who should for the future serve that of St. Mary.
Henceforth payments, when allotted specifically, were
to the chaplain of St. Mary until 1405 and in 1475,
except in 1393, 1395, and 1396. At the latter dates
and after 1405, except in 1475, they were made to
the priest of St. Margaret’s chapel. It is probable
that one priest served two chapels. That of St. Mary
was afterwards known as the garrison church.

The building works of King David were continued
by Robert II. In 1379 iron had been supplied for the
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gate of the castle, and certain masons were paid for
the completion of kennels; in 1380 an iron door and a
wall next to it had been erected ; in 1381 divers work-
men had, after much labour, discovered the ancient
and lost well in the castle, and had cleaned and
repaired it; in 1382 a new house had been built after
the manner of a vault, and next the great tower, for a
kitchen and other offices. The gate and bridge were
repaired, and pavement was laid down near them.
Probably for the sake of security, some private in-
dividuals and others had dwellings within the castle.
Thus in 1385 Robert II. granted to the abbot of
Holyrood that he might choose any piece of land,
eighty feet square, within the castle and outside the
king’s manor, and build on it a sufficient house and
necessary offices, in which he and the canons might
reside; and he gave also the right of freely enter-
ing and leaving the castle. The abbot must render
to the king a silver penny every Whitsunday. In
1385 John, Earl of Carrick, afterwards Robert III.,
bestowed the like privilege of ingress and egress on
such burgesses of Edinburgh as had or should have
dwellings in the castle.

Robert III. appears to have been often at Edin-
burgh Castle. In 1400 it was defended by the Duke
of Rothesay when Henry IV. besieged it in person.
The English army was well provisioned, even with
such luxuries as lampreys and porpoises, but after three
days the siege was raised.

James I. was at the castle in April 1434, and
caused there the arrest of Walter Stewart, eldest son
of Murdoch, Duke of Albany, and late regent. This
king was a builder of the castle. In this year money
was disbursed for walls, and timber for the fabric and
for the great chamber thereof. This chamber was the
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parliament hall on the south side of the palace yard.
Expenses for repairs and for the making of a new
kitchen and staircase had been incurred while James
was a prlsoncr in England. In 1434 there is mention
of the king’s wardrobe in the castle, and in the next
year a kitchen garden within the precincts was
completed.

The building of the hall was probably synchronous
with that of the palace on the east side of the court-
yard, of the private apartments of kings, for these
also date from the fifteenth century. It would seem
that before they abandoned Edinburgh Castle for
Holyrood the kings attempted to adapt it to the
needs of the time. The work of James I. was com-
pleted by his son, who roofed the great hall with lead,
and provided linen cloths for its windows. Robert
Lang, chaplain, had charge in 1459 of the king’s
chambers in the castle and all property left in them.

After the death of James I. the castle figured in
the incidents of the strange competition between the
warden, William Crichton, and Alexander Living-
stone, for the custody of the person of the young
king. He came thither with his mother for safety
immediately after his father’s murder at Perth in
1437. In 1438 a feather mattress and pillow were
delivered at the castle for his use ; and before March
1439 he had passed into the keeping of Livingstone
at Stirling. A somewhat legendary account of this
transference is that the queen mother, when by great
pains she had allayed all Crichton’s suspicions, obtained
from him leave to take out of the castle two boxes
full of her clothes and ornaments, on the pretext that
she wished to make a pilgrimage to the White Kirk.
She packed her belongings in one box and placed her
son in the other; and thus she conveyed him to Leith,
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where a ship was in readiness to sail to Stirling. It
is said that Livingstone subsequently besieged Edin-
burgh Castle, that it was surrendered to him, and
then solemnly restored to Crichton. Soon afterwards
Crichton rode out of Edinburgh under cover of
night, kidnapped the king at Stirling, and brought
him back to the castle.

The tragedy known as the ‘“Black Dinner” was
enacted in 1440. Its hero was William, Earl of
Douglas, a proud boy of sixteen, who was pronounced
by the lords of parliament to be a danger to the realm.
He was invited with * colouris and paintit words "’ to
come to Edinburgh for the service of the commonweal ;
and he rode accordingly with a considerable train,
among whom were his mentor, the aged Malcolm
Fleming of Cumbernauld, and his young brother
David, whom “he never sufferit to pase ane fute
braid from himself.” They were met by Crichton,
who made them halt at his house and gave them a
flattering reception. It is said, however, that the
frequent passage of messengers between Crichton and
Livingstone, as well probably as a knowledge of the
condition of parties, made many in the earl’s train
uneasy; and these besought him not to enter Edin-
burgh Castle, or at least to send home his brother.
But he would give no ear to their warnings; and
although, as rumours spread throughout the com-
pany, David Douglas was affected and would also
have persuaded his brother to turn back, the earl
answered only with sharp reproofs. So his followers,
with ¢ sad, dreary, and quiet countenances,” continued
on their way in silence. When the brothers arrived at
the castle they were received with great show of joy
and respect; and after many of their friends had left
Edinburgh they were entertained at a banquet, osten-
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sibly a consummation of the festivities in their honour.
As the meal was nearly over a bull’s head on a dish
was brought into the room and set before the earl, and
the Douglas knew this sign of condemnation to death.
He and his brother leapt to their feet and looked
wildly for means of escape. But a company of armed
men, who had been in hiding, closed around them;
they and Sir Malcolm Fleming and other gentlemen,
“ their familiars and assisters,” were bound and dragged
forth to the castle hill. The chronicler tells that the
little king was fond of his bold cousin the earl, and
prayed Crichton for God’s sake to set free the brothers
and to save their lives, but he was roughly silenced.
After a hasty mock trial the Douglases were be-
headed, and Fleming met a like fate, probably a few
days later.

“ Edinburgh Castle, toune and toure,
God grant thou sink for sinne!
And that even for the black dinoir
Erl Douglas gat therein.”

Five years later James, with another Douglas,
William the eighth earl, besieged Crichton in the
castle, and obtained a surrender after nine weeks. A
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